JOSEPH SCALIA

Nevada Bar Number: 5123

Senior Counsel, LLC

3355 S. Highland Dr., Suite 111n

Las Vegas, NV 89109 Phone: (702) 825-2627

Email: joe@josephscalia.com

Attorney for Plaintiffs

Electronically Filed Aug 28 2023 06:52 AM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

LEIDIANNE L BAUTISTA, an individual SC Case No. 85204 and CONSTANTINE S. NACAR, an

individual,

Dist Ct. Case No.: A-22-852903-C

APPELLANTS

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

v.

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Supreme Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to NRAP Rule 3A as it is an order denying a preliminary injunction. On August 15, 2022, the Court entered its order denying Appellants' Emergency Request for Stay of Redemption Date and Injunction Preventing Transfer of Property. The Notice of Entry of Order was entered on August 15, 2022. The Notice of Appeal was timely filed pursuant to NRAP 4(a)(1) on August 16, 2022.

ROUTING STATEMENT

This case is presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(12) as it is a case challenging the denial of injunctive relief. However, Appellant believes this court should retain this matter based upon the principal issue of public policy in a case of relatively new impression that the District Court Judge stated they had never heard of it before. AA-000100 line 10-14.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Whether the court erred in denying the requested injunctive relief. This appeal raises an important public policy question as to whether a homeowners association/lender may receive a windfall by foreclosing on the property and whether a homeowner can sell the property during the 60 day redemption period.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a case addressing the 2015 amendments to NRS 116.3116 which allows homeowners 60 days to redeem their property after the HOA sale. On March 24, 2022, Appellant's residence was sold at a trustee sale due to delinquent Homeowners Association assessments in the amount of \$369.00. The property was worth at least \$470,000 and there was a mortgage of approximately \$202,000. Respondent Saticoy Bay's made the only bid in the amount of \$315,000. During the redemption period, owners attempted to sell the home to a third party to pay off creditors and salvage the remaining equity. Neither Saticoy, the HOA, or a title company would cooperate on the sale after the auction sale but prior to the the expiration of the redemption period contrary to the explicit language of the statute.

Appellants filed a complaint on May 19, 2022 to extend the redemption period to allow them to close on an offer to sell the property for value. Despite a buyer who would have paid off the purchase money lender and ensured that Saticoy Bay received that positive return on their investment, Saticoy opposed the extension and sale. On May 20, 2022, Appellants filed an Emergency Request for Stay of Redemption Date. The court stayed any transfer of the property until a hearing on June 2, 2022. On that date the court erroneously held that Appellants had no likelihood of success on the merits and denied the injunction.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

As this was an emergency injunction hearing, the parties did not lodge evidentiary documents with the court. All citations are to the emergency motion, opposition, reply and the court's transcript.¹

Appellants, LEIDIANNE BAUSTISTA and CONSTANTINE NACAR are the homeowners of a property 10449 Forked Run Road. AA-000002 line 1-2. The property sits in a subdivision with an HOA. Due to nonpayment of the HOA fees, (less than \$1,000 of late payments and approximately \$7,000 in trustee fees.) AA-000037. The actual delinquent assessments were \$369.00. AA-000005 line 4. Defendant NEVADA ASSOCIATION SERVICES INC. sold the property at auction on March 24, 2022. AA-000044. The property was sold to Defendant SATICOY BAY who purchased the property for \$315,000.00 at auction. AA-000044. SATICOY BAY's apparent business model is to purchase properties substantially above the outstanding HOA fees, but well below the fair market value of the home. This drives up the redemption costs increasing the likelihood that a homeowner will fail to redeem and thereby converts the homeowner's surplus equity to SATICOY and all HOA auction purchasers. The statute did not intend to allow purchasers to overbid the cost of redemption and then resell the property in 60 days for immediate and complete loss of the homeowner's surplus equity.

-

¹ The vast majority of evidence to support Appellant's claims is in the possession of Respondents.

The homeowners listed the property for sale in an attempt to use the sale proceeds to redeem the property, pay off the statutory amounts owed to both the HOA and SATICOY BAY and salvage approximately \$150,000 in equity. The homeowners intended to use the proceeds of the sale to redeem the property and were expected to close prior to the redemption date. However, despite obtaining a cash offer for their home of \$470,000 AA - 000013, the defendants refused to allow the redemption of the property. This is directly contrary to the holding in <u>Saticoy Bay v. Nev. Ass'n Sers</u> 444 P.3d 428 as discussed below.

As the only way Appellants, would be able to redeem the property in the amount of \$315,000 would be to refinance the property, they needed additional time in order to close on the financing. As a result of the actions of Respondents, Appellants will lose the \$103,000 equity between the \$315,000 bid and the \$202,000 mortgage plus the \$150,000 additional equity in the home.

SATICOY BAY's business practice has the consequence of making redemption by a homeowner illusory, defeating the legislative intent of offering defaulting homeowners redemption. Most importantly, the intention of the statute is to insure that HOA fees and liens are paid, not to exact punishment on cash strapped homeowners by stripping them of their equity in favor of a HOA lien purchaser, what is akin to a private tax sale.

As a side issue, there were several defects with the trustee notice of sale. AA-000014 line 2-8. The Trustee Sale was improper as the notices of lien and default

were not served in compliance with NRS 116.31162 which requires service via certified mail. AA-000014 line 2-4 and AA-000031 and AA-000035. There is no affidavit of service recorded for either document and the documents do not claim they were served properly. The Notice of Trustee Sale does not appear to have been properly published and posted. Plaintiffs owed less than \$1000.00 in delinquent homeowners fees and penalties. The HOA, the trustee, and the buyer have all been unjustly enriched by a statute which was intended to give homeowners a chance to pay the comparatively small amount owed to the HOA.

At the time the Complaint was filed, Appellants had a buyer willing to pay the fair market value of \$470,000. Respondents refused to extend time to redeem the property or even allow Appellants' buyer to pay off the redemption value.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The District Court abused its discretion in denying the preliminary injunction.

The Court's sole reason for denying the preliminary injunction as that Appellants did not enjoy a likelihood of success on the merits. In support of its decision, the court cites the following rationale:

- 1) The court notes that the tender was not effectuated by Bautista prior to the redemption deadline of May 23, 2022 based upon the auction being held on March 24, 2022.
 - a. As this is the sole reason for the filing of the Complaint and request for injunction on May 19, 2022 and May 20, 2022 respectively in order to enjoin the deadline to redeem the property, the court should

- not have denied the injunction simply because it could not hear the matter prior to May 23, 2022.
- 2) Whereas Bautista advances arguments concerning the noticing of the sale and Saticoy's purported overbidding, Bautista has not proffered any legal authority which would give this Court a sufficient basis for finding that the notice of sale was insufficient or that Saticoy overbid on the Property by bidding \$315,000.
 - a. The court incorrectly stated there was no legal authority proffered that the notice of sale was insufficient. Appellants cited NRS 116.31162 which enumerates the requirements for notices of sale including that the notice was mailed by certified mail, 116.31162(1)(a) and that the affidavit must state it meets the requirements in NRS 116.31162(1)(e).
 - b. The status of Saticoy's bid as an overbid is a factual argument to support the Unjust Enrichment cause of action. Further, as there has been minimal appellate consideration of the 2015 amendments, there is no legal authority on this issue, as acknowledged by the court at the hearing.
- 3) Whereas Bautista argues that escrow could not close due to ROC Title placing requirements that Bautista could not meet, and that such requirements are incorrect, any arguments that Bautista has against ROC Title for being unable to close escrow are an issue between Bautista and ROC Title and not a basis for an injunction against Saticoy or NAS.
 - a. The court misinterpreted the argument proffered by Appellants. The instructions from the title company has no bearing on Appellants'

motion other than to explain why they could not meet the redemption date.

- 4) Whereas the Court notes Bautista's argument concerning the equity of the matter and that the outcome is inequitable, the Court also notes Bautista's failure to make the necessary assessment payments or redeem the property in a timely manner.
 - a. For the second time, this court improperly holds the timely filing of a request to stay or extend the redemption period against Appellants. Further, whether Appellants failed to pay the homeowner's assessments neither bars their right of redemption nor affects Appellants' ability to prevail on an unjust enrichment claim or a defective notice claim. The notice statutes must be complied with and the unjust enrichment claim is based upon Appellant's \$8,000 homeowners debt (including trustee's fees) but they were required to pay \$315,000 to Respondent and \$202,000 to their bank in order to redeem the property. As stated in the complaint, Appellant's were never told exactly what was required to redeem the property.
- 5) WHEREAS Bautista argues Saticoy refused to comply with providing the redemption amounts as set for in NRS 116.3116(3), Bautista argues that said section also allows for redemption by successors in interest, such as a prospective buyer.
 - a. The court fails to negate Bautista's argument, yet in the previous paragraph held the failure to pay the redemption amount against Appellants.

- 6) Whereas the court also acknowledges Bautista's argument that a redemption right pursuant to NRS 116.3116 applies to homeowners, the Court does not find any supporting authority for Bautista's claim that a prospective buyer is a successor in interest entitled to redemption pursuant to Section 3 of NRS 116.3116.
 - a. NRS 116.3116 section 3 does not define successor in interest and, in fact, should have referenced NRS 116.31166(3). Although the court claims it does not find any supporting authority for Bautista's claim that a prospective buyer is a successor in interest, it did not cite any authority that a prospective buyer is not a successor in interest.
 - b. It is Appellants' position that any sale of the property would effectively pay the proceeds to Bautista who would then redeem the property. Even if the buyer was determined to be paying the money directly to the HOA and Saticoy, it would be as an extension of, or successor in interest of the property.

As the Court abused its discretion and based its decision on an erroneous legal standard or clearly erroneous findings of fact, the ruling should be reversed.

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A party seeking a preliminary injunction must show a likelihood of success on the merits of their case and that they will suffer irreparable harm without preliminary relief. <u>Clark Cty. Sch. Dist. v. Buchanan</u>, 112 Nev. 1146 1150, 924 P.2d 716, 719 (1996). "[T]his court will only reverse the district court's decision when

the district court abused its discretion or based its decision on an erroneous legal standard or on clearly erroneous findings of fact." Excellence Cmty. Mgmt., LLC v. Gilmore, 131 Nev. 347, 351, 351 P.3d 720, 722 (2015) (quoting Boulder Oaks Cmty. Ass'n v. B & J Andrews Enters., LLC, 125 Nev. 397, 403, 215 P.3d 27, 31 (2009) (internal quotation marks omitted)). "A decision that lacks support in the form of substantial evidence is arbitrary or capricious and, therefore, an abuse of discretion." Finkel v. Cashman Prof'l, Inc., 128 Nev. 68, 72-73, 270 P.3d 1259, 1262 (2012) (quoting Stratosphere Gaming Corp. v. Las Vegas, 120 Nev. 523, 528, 96 P.3d 756, 760 (2004) (internal quotation marks omitted)).

II. THE COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT FOUND THAT APPELLANTS DID NOT HAVE A LIKELIHOOD TO SUCCEED.

"An abuse of discretion can occur when the district court bases its decision on a clearly erroneous factual determination or it disregards controlling law." MB Am., Inc. v. Alaska Pac. Leasing Co., 132 Nev. 78, 88, 367 P.3d 1286, 1292 (2016). Shores v. Global Experience Specialists, Inc., 422 P.3d 1238 (Nev. 2018)

a. THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT FAILURE TO REDEEM THE PROPERTY ON MAY 23, 2022 BARRED APPELLANTS' REQUEST FOR AN INJUNCTION.

The court erroneously found that, because Appellants did not redeem the property by May 23, 2022, they could not show a likelihood to prevail. Extending or staying the deadline to redeem the property was the sole purpose of the Complaitn

for injunction which was filed on May 19, 2022 and the Emergency Request for Stay of Redemption Date filed on May 20, 2022. The Court stayed the time to redeem the property in its Temporary Restraining Order entered on May 20, 2022. Therefore, it is an error of fact or law to bar Appellants from proceeding on the grounds that they didn't meet a redemption deadline which the same Court had already stayed. Much like a timely filed motion for new trial would stay the time for an appeal, a timely filed motion to extend a deadline should toll that deadline. It is illogical, and unfair to deny a request to extend a deadline on the basis of the deadline having expired after the filing of the motion but before the hearing thereon.

b. THE COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT THERE WAS NO LEGAL AUTHORITY THAT THE NOTICE OF SALE WAS DEFICIENT OR THAT SATICOY BAY OVERBID.

The court abused its discretion when it found that there was no legal authority that the Notice of Sale was deficient, disregarding the controlling law found in NRS 116.31162 which enumerates the requirements for notices of sale including that the notice must be mailed by certified mail, 116.31162(1)(a) and that the affidavit must state it meets the requirements in NRS 116.31162(1)(e).

Appellants' Emergency Motion clearly states the Trustee Sale was improper as the notices of lien and default were not served in compliance with NRS 116.31162(1)(a) which requires service via certified mail. Appellant's motion further stated that there was no affidavit of service recorded for either document and the documents did not claim they were served properly. NRS 116.31162(1)(e)

requires an affidavit be executed and recorded with the County Recorder. Therefore there was legal authority that the Notice of Sale was deficient under NRS 116.31162.

The court also incorrectly stated there was no legal authority that Saticoy Bay overbid. This is because whether Saticoy Bay intentionally bid an amount that would preclude any homeowner from redeeming their property, is a fact to support a claim of unjust enrichment, not a legal term of art. Unjust enrichment occurs "when ever [sic] a person has and retains a benefit which in equity and good conscience belongs to another." Unionamerica Mtg., 97 Nev. at 212, 626 P.2d at 1273. In their Emergency Motion, Appellants stated that they owed \$8,000 in homeowners fees and trustee fees combined. In fact they owed less than \$1,000 in homeowners fees and late fees and more than \$7,000 in trustee fees. Saticoy Bay bid \$315,000 to purchase the property and were the only party bidding. By doing so, Saticoy Bay rendered the redemption provisions of NRS 116.31166 unable to be completed, thus defeating the legislature's intent of the right of redemption and depriving Appellants of their legal rights.

c. THE COURT MISAPPLIED THE FACTS WHEN IT RULED THAT THE ACTIONS OF THE ESCROW COMPANY WERE INDEPENDENT OF RESPONDENTS.

The court ruled that it could not control the escrow company and if Appellants believed there was something wrong on their end, they would need to address it directly with them. In so ruling, the court misapplied the facts. The facts, as stated in Appellants' reply, were that SATICOY refuses to provide the redemption

amounts. In the Emergency Motion, Appellants pointed out that the title company unreasonably required Appellants to pay the mortgage out of pocket before closing on an earlier deal that would have redeemed the property prior to the redemption date, thus casting a cloud on the redemption process. Thus this issue has no bearing on Appellants' motion other than to explain why they could not meet the redemption date.

d. THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT FOUND THAT THERE WAS NO INEQUITY BECAUSE APPELLANTS FAILED TO PAY THE ASSESSMENTS OR THE REDEMPTION TIMELY.

The court found that the Appellants could not show a likelihood to prevail because they hadn't timely paid the assessments or redeemed the property. As stated above, the Appellants' Complaint, filed prior to the expiration of the redemption period, requested an extension of, or stay of the redemption period. A temporary restraining order was granted extending the deadline and staying enforcement until the hearing on June 2, 2022. Therefore, denying Appellant's request summarily on the basis that they did not meet the same deadline they were attempting to extend and which had already been stayed, is an abuse of discretion.

The court further misapplied the law to the extent it held that Appellants' failure to pay the assessments. Since the process of redemption under NRS 116.31166 is only applicable if there are unpaid assessments the failure to pay those assessments cannot defeat a party's attempt to enforce the right of redemption. The Court abused its discretion in finding otherwise.

e. THE COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT A BUYER COULD NOT BE AN AGENT OF APPELLANTS OR A SUCCESSOR IN INTEREST

"When we are called upon to interpret a statute, the starting point is the statute's plain language. See <u>Branch Banking v. Windhaven & Tollway, LLC</u>, 131 Nev. 155, 158, 347 P.3d 1038, 1040 (2015). If the language of the statute is clear, we do not go beyond it. Id." See also <u>Volenti v. State, Dep't of Motor Vehicles, 131 Nev.</u> 875, 879, 362 P.3d 83, 85 (2015).

This court has already determined that Saticoy Bay has no interest in the source of the funds to redeem the property or to direct how the proceeds of the sale are distributed. Saticoy Bay LLC Series 9050 W. Warm Springs 2079 v. Nev. Ass'n Servs 444 P.3d 428 (Nev. 2019). In a more direct issue, the court held that Saticoy's purchase funds were used to redeem the property with the consent of the mortgage company. The court held that Saticoy had no standing to question the source of the funds as it no longer had an interest in its purchase money. Here, there was no question whether the funds to be used to purchase the property were from the money paid by Saticoy or not.

The term "successor in interest" is not defined in the statute. Nor has it been authoritatively defined elsewhere. Indeed, it has been noted that no single definition is applicable in every legal context. Safer v. Perper, 569 F.2d 87, 95 (D.C.Cir.1977), citing Howard Johnson Co. v. Hotel Employees, 417 U.S. 249, 94 S.Ct. 2236, 41 L.Ed.2d 46 (1974). The word 'successor' has a twofold meaning. It may be used in

the sense of one entitled to succeed as well as in the sense of one who has in fact succeeded.' Id. 53 P.2d at 383." Title Ins. and Trust Co. v. Chicago Title Ins. Co., 634 P.2d 1216, 97 Nev. 523 (Nev. 1981)

As the law clearly states that a purchaser, ie: one entitled to succeed in interest" is a successor, the court erroneously misapplied the law.

Requiring a homeowner who is delinquent in the sum of \$8000 counting trustee fees to pay in excess of \$315,000 to redeem the property, is unconscionable. Infact, the United States Supreme Court recently found it unconstitutional for municipalities to retain the surplus monies generated from tax lien foreclosure sales. Tyler v. Hennepin County 598 U.S. _____ (May 25, 2023). While Tyler addresses the takings clause, the same principle should be applied to NRS 116.31166 as it amounts to a windfall to the buyer and the Homeowners Association when they should have, at minimum paid the difference between the mortgage and the HOA delinquency and the purchase price to Appellants, approximately \$100,000. Not to mention the windfall profits obtained by Saticoy purchasing a property below market value, thus depriving Appellants of an additional \$150,000 or more in equity, all over an actual delinquency of less than \$1,000.

CONCLUSION

Based thereon, Appellants request this court reverse the denial of Appellants' emergency injunction, reinstate the temporary injunction which

expired on June 2, 2022 and remand the matter back to the Eighth Judicial District Court for further proceedings on the merits of Appellants' claims.