IN THE SUPREME COURT OF NEVADA

LEIDIANNE L BAUTISTA, an individual and CONSTANTINE S. NACAR, an individual,

Appellants,

VS.

Supreme Court Case No. 85204

Electronically Filed Sep 27 2023 03:38 PM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

NEVADA ASSOCIATION SERVICES, INC., a Nevada Corporation, SATICOY BAY LLC SERIES 10449 FORKED RUN, a Nevada Limited Liability Company

Respondents.

Counsel for Respondent Saticoy Bay LLC Series 10449 Forked Run:

II.	INTRODUCTION			
III.	STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS			
IV.	SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT			
V.	LEGAL ARGUMENT			
	A.		NDARD OF REVIEW AND RELEVANT STATUTORY LA	
	B.	DUE	DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DENIED AN INJUNCTIO TO BAUTISTA'S UNSUBSTANTIATED AN TRADICTORY ALLEGATION	٧D
		1.	Bautista failed to present a factual or legal basis for a stay of t Redemption Date	
		2.	Bautista failed to assert a lack of notice of the HOA sale, or argument requiring strict compliance.	
		3.	Bautista's third and fourth topics are reiterations of the first	19
		4.	Bautista's final contention regarding a successor in interest contradicted by Bautista's own assertions	
VI.	CONCLUSION			
VII.	ATTORNEY'S CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE			

I. TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Dangberg Holdings Nev., L.L.C. v. Douglas Cty., 115 Nev. 129, 978 P.2d 311 (1999)			
Leven v. Frey, 123 Nev. 399, 168 P.3d 712 (2007)10			
Leyva v. Nat'l Default Servicing Corp., 127 Nev. 470, 255 P.3d 1275 (2011) 10, 15			
Nevada Escrow Service, Inc. v. Crockett, 91 Nev. 201, 533 P.2d 471 (1975)8			
No. One Rent-A-Car v. Ramada Inns, 94 Nev. 779, 587 P.2d 1329 (1978)8			
S.O.C., Inc. v. Mirage Casino-Hotel, 117 Nev. 403, 23 P.3d 243 (2001)8			
Saticoy Bay LLC v. Nev. Ass'n Servs., 135 Nev. 180, 444 P.3d 428 (2019)10, 14, 15, 16			
Saticoy Bay, LLC v. Thornburg Mortg. Sec. Tr. 2007-3, 510 P.3d 139 (Nev. 2022)			
<i>Shadow Wood Homeowners Ass'n v. N.Y. Cmty. Bancorp. Inc.</i> , 132 Nev. 49, 366 P.3d 1105 (2016)			
<i>Tyler v. Hennepin Cty.</i> , 143 S. Ct. 1369 (2023)			
Statutes			
NRS 116.31162(1)(a) 13, 14			
NRS 116.31164(8)(b)24			
NRS 116.31166 passim			
NRS 116.31166(3)			
NRS 116.31166(4)			
Rules			
NRAP 26.1(a)ii			

II. INTRODUCTION

The instant action relates to the efforts of a homeowner to conduct a sale of real property which was subject to a deed of trust and sold to Saticoy by way of a homeowner association foreclosure. Following Saticoy's purchase of real property at a homeowner foreclosure sale, Appellants Leidianne Bautista and Constantine Nacar ("Bautista") sought to conduct a sale of the real property, but upon a title company requiring a redemption of the homeowner association sale and payment of the deed of trust, allegedly could not complete the sale before the redemption date was set to expire. Bautista thus

Bautista initially obtained a Temporary Restraining Order on Bautista's "Ex-Parte – Emergency Request for Stay of Redemption Date and Injunction Preventing Transfer or Sale" ("Motion for Stay") filed concurrently with the "Emergency Complaint for Injunctive and Other Relief" ("Complaint") three days prior to the redemption period expiring. The district court properly refused to provide Bautista a Preliminary Injunction, finding that Bautista did not have a likelihood of success on the merits, as Bautista presented no cognizable legal or equitable basis for the relief requested, any claim against the escrow company regarding the redemption was not applicable to the appearing parties, and that Bautista's theories regarding what constituted a "successor-in-interest" were inapplicable in this matter. Bautista thereafter appealed the denial of the preliminary injunction.

III. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS

Respondent Saticoy purchased the real property located at 10449 Forked Run St., Las Vegas Nevada 89178 APN 176-27-822-022 ("Property") at a foreclosure sale conducted Nevada Association Services ("NAS") on behalf of Quintessa II at Mountains Edge Homeowners' Association ("HOA") on March 24, 2022. Bautista, at the eleventh hour, sought to obtain additional time to redeem the Property, and to effectuate a proposed sale, by way of a Complaint for Injunctive Relief, Declaratory Relief, and Unjust Enrichment.

Bautista does not contend that a timely tender of the amount necessary under NRS 116.31166 ever occurred, or was even attempted. Indeed, the entire purpose of the litigation, as set forth in the Complaint, is to:

1. To Extend the Redemption period to allow the Homeowner to use either Money from the sale to redeem the property; or in the alternative to use a portion of the excess proceeds to redeem the property, said sums being replaced by purchase money:

2. An order preventing the HOA from issuing a deed to SATICOY BAY until this court has ruled on this action

3. An Order from the Court directing a title company to consummate the sale and use the sale proceeds to pay the HOA fees and redemption amounts. See AA-000002-3.

The "title company," ROC Title, ("ROC") is not listed as party in either the caption or the "Parties, Jurisdiction and Venue" sections of the Complaint. See AA-000001-3.

Bautista consistently acknowledges that the assessments to the HOA went unpaid, however, Bautista's stated amounts for the deficiency are inaccurate. NAS recorded a Notice of Default on September 27, 2019, which set forth a deficiency of assessment of \$783.00. See AA-000033. NAS recorded a Notice of Foreclosure Sale over two years later which set forth a total amount due and owing of \$7,214.69. AA-000037. Bautista sets forth only the assertion set forth in the Complaint regarding the "actual delinquent assessments were \$369.00" without further support or explanation, despite two recorded documents clearly evidencing the contrary. Furthermore, Bautista does not contest that over two and a half years elapsed between the recordation of the Notice of Default on September 27, 2019, and the sale on March 24, 2022. Opening Brief ("OB") at 3.

Bautista's assertion that "the defendants refused to allow the redemption of the property" is an overinclusive statement premised solely upon the assertion in the Motion for Stay, wherein Bautista stated:

The homeowners intended to use the proceeds of the sale to redeem the property and were expected to close prior to the redemption date. However, despite obtaining a cash offer for their home of \$470,000, the title companies refused to consummate the sale without the homeowners first resolving the mortgage on the property and redeeming it. This is absurd as the proceeds of the sale are usually used to pay the mortgage and the Plaintiffs need the money to pay the redemption. If the court does not grant the homeowner's request to extend the

redemption period and use the sale proceeds to redeem the property, they will lose almost \$150,000.00 in equity to SATICOY BAY.

See AA-0000013

Bautista never sets forth any evidence, either in the record to date or in the Opening Brief, that any defendant prevented or refused a properly tendered redemption. Indeed, the Complaint and Motion for Stay both clearly assert that no redemption occurred because Bautista was unable to conclude a sale prior to the redemption period elapsing, and sought to stay the 60-day redemption period's expiration. AA-00005. Indeed, the Reply of Bautista, in response to Saticoy's Opposition to the Motion to Stay, only further confused the issue, by asserting:

 DEFENDANT SATICOY BAY did not purchase the property. They have in essence purchased an option. This option is subject to certain redemption rights. NRS 116.3116 makes it clear that it's purchase is "subject to" the BAUTISTA and NACAR's right to redeem.
One of those redemption rights is set forth in NRS 116.3116 allows the redemption to be performed by his "successor in interest." A successor in interest is one who either 1) purchases the right to redemption from the owner or 2) is a good faith purchaser of the property for value.

See AA-0000048.

Thus, Bautista created confusion by asserting, without evidence or legal justification, that a "successor in interest" i.e. not Bautista, had either purchased the right to redeem, or the property to be redeemed. While Bautista attaches an incomplete, partial, brokerage agreement with one Natosha Easter to the Reply, there is no evidence of any effort to redeem, transfer the "right to redeem" or an actual transfer of the Property. AA-000050-59. Additionally, Bautista attaches a "Payoff Statement" with a date of May 27, 2022, and good through May 31, 2022, concerning the deed of trust encumbering the Property. AA-000061. The Payoff Statement clearly indicates that the "interest due" timeframe was from May 1, 2020, to May 27, 2022, indicating a failure to pay all interest for nearly two years, and that the amount outstanding was \$290,273.19 as of May 31, 2022, refuting Bautista's factual statements that "as a result of the actions of Respondents, Appellants will lose the \$103,000 equity between the \$315,000 bid and the \$202,000 mortgage." OB page 4, and AA-000061.

Bautista presets no citation to the record supporting the factual assertion that "SATICOY BAY's business practice has the consequence of making redemption by a homeowner illusory, defeating the legislative intent of offering defaulting homeowners redemption." OB page 4. At no juncture does Bautista allege that either Bautista or any other party provided notice pursuant to NRS 116.31166(4). AA-

000001-16. Additionally, while Bautista claims that the defects in the notice of sale, including a failure to record an affidavit of either the notice of delinquent assessment lien or the notice of default, at no juncture does Bautista allege the that notices were not received, only asserting that documents were not recorded. OB page 4-5. Saticoy initially challenged this assertion, stating that "[w]hile Bautista attempts to argue equity, as set forth above, Bautista failed to make payments to the HOA, failed to set froth any steps taken to prevent the sale (only broadly arguing a failure of notice) despite clear notice of same." AA-000026-27. Bautista's Reply is completely silent as to any failure to receive notice. AA-0047-49. Indeed, Bautista's request for an injunction concludes by stating that "Plaintiff requests the court enjoin the trustee from transferring title and stay the deadline for the redemption period until hearings can be held on how to effectuate the closing of the sale of the property." AA-000016. At no juncture does Bautista allege a lack of notice of the sale or that Bautista had paid the assessments, only that the outcome would be inequitable because the "amount was just under \$8,000." AA-000015.

Bautista's confused and generally unsupported recitation of facts illustrates the underlying infirmities of the Motion for Stay. Bautista's legal reasoning did little to provide additional foundation for the requested relief, as set forth below, and thus the district court properly denied the requested injunction.

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Bautista's Motion for Stay suffered several infirmities that Bautista failed to correct, leading to the district court properly denying injunctive relief. Bautista repeatedly conflates the district court's factual findings with legal conclusions, including Bautista's failure to timely redeem as the basis for a refusal for injunctive relief, instead of a predicate to the issuance of a deed to Saticoy. Bautista likewise failed to properly contest any failings of the foreclosure sale, and failed to allege a lack of notice. As is apparent from the caption and pleadings of the Complaint, Bautista sought to compel ROC to complete a sale wherein the title to the Property was in dispute, by way of litigation to which ROC was not even a party. Moving past these issues, Bautista's legal theory rested on a circular scheme whereby a redemption could be accomplished to prevent the loss of the Property only by staying the time period in which the redemption was required to occur to allow for a sale of the Property to obtain the funds necessary to redeem the Property. While Bautista argues that the loss of possible equity and the possibility of a purchase of the Property by another entity provided an equitable and statutory basis for staying the redemption deadline set forth in NRS 116.31166, Bautista failed create a nexus between the requested relief and the parties before the court. The district court properly denied Bautista the requested injunctive relief, as Bautista's purported

claims against Saticoy were based on nothing but a desire to effectuate Bautista's circular, convoluted, and ultimately contradictory plan to force a sale of the Property in order to permit a redemption to allow the sale of the Property in the first place.

V. LEGAL ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW AND RELEVANT STATUTORY LAW.

Bautista sought an injunction to prevent the 60-day redemption period of NRS 116.31166(3) following the HOA sale from elapsing. To substantiate this request, Bautista brought a series of unsupported statutory interpretations, often in conflict with the facts as asserted by Bautista. The district court properly reviewed the pleadings, and denied the requested relief.

"As the grant or denial of a preliminary injunction is a question addressed to the discretion of the district court, our task on appeal is to search the record to determine whether the lower court exceeded the permissible bounds of judicial discretion. *No. One Rent-A-Car v. Ramada Inns,* 94 Nev. 779, 780, 587 P.2d 1329, 1330 (1978), citing *Nevada Escrow Service, Inc. v. Crockett,* 91 Nev. 201, 533 P.2d 471 (1975). "This court's review is limited to the record to determine whether the lower court exceeded the permissible bounds of discretion." *S.O.C., Inc. v. Mirage Casino-Hotel,* 117 Nev. 403, 407, 23 P.3d 243, 246 (2001). "A preliminary injunction is available if an applicant can show a likelihood of success on the merits and a reasonable probability that the non-moving party's conduct, if allowed to continue,

will cause irreparable harm for which compensatory damage is an inadequate

remedy." Dangberg Holdings Nev., L.L.C. v. Douglas Cty., 115 Nev. 129, 142, 978

P.2d 311, 319 (1999).

NRS 116.31166(3) sets forth the basis for redeeming a sale following a

homeowner association foreclosure:

A unit sold pursuant to NRS 116.31162 to 116.31168, inclusive, may be redeemed by the unit's owner whose interest in the unit was extinguished by the sale, or his or her successor in interest, or any holder of a recorded security interest that is subordinate to the lien on which the unit was sold, or that holder's successor in interest. The unit's owner whose interest in the unit was extinguished, the holder of the recorded security interest on the unit or a successor in interest of those persons may redeem the property at any time <u>within 60 days</u> <u>after the sale</u> by paying:

(a) The purchaser the amount of his or her purchase price, with interest at the rate of 1 percent per month thereon in addition, to the time of redemption, plus:

(1) The amount of any assessment, taxes or payments toward liens which were created before the purchase and which the purchaser may have paid thereon after the purchase, and interest on such amount;

(2) If the purchaser is also a creditor having a prior lien to that of the redemptioner, other than the association's lien under which the purchase was made, the amount of such lien, and interest on such amount; and

(3) Any reasonable amount expended by the purchaser which is reasonably necessary to maintain and repair the unit in accordance with the standards set forth in the governing documents, including, without limitation, any provisions governing maintenance, standing water or snow removal

(Emphasis added).

"To determine whether a statute and rule require strict compliance or substantial compliance, this court looks at the language used and policy and equity considerations.... In so doing, [this court] examine[s] whether the purpose of the statute or rule can be adequately served in a manner other than by technical compliance with the statutory or rule language." *Leyva v. Nat'l Default Servicing Corp.*, 127 Nev. 470, 475-76, 255 P.3d 1275, 1278 (2011). "This court has recognized as a 'general tenet that Time and manner' requirements are strictly construed, whereas substantial compliance may be sufficient for 'form and content' requirements." *Saticoy Bay LLC v. Nev. Ass'n Servs.*, 135 Nev. 180, 187, 444 P.3d 428, 434-35 (2019), citing *Leven v. Frey*, 123 Nev. 399, 408, 168 P.3d 712, 714 (2007).

B. <u>THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DENIED AN INJUNCTION</u> <u>DUE TO BAUTISTA'S UNSUBSTANTIATED AND</u> <u>CONTRADICTORY ALLEGATION.</u>

Bautista, in a novel, circular, set of logical leaps, requested an injunction of the issuance of the deed to Saticoy, and a stay of the 60 days set forth in NRS 116.31166(3) ("Redemption Date") in order to allow Bautista to obtain the funds necessary to pay the required funds, or create a successor in interest who would do so.

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